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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ALBANY DIVISION
AGSOUTH GENETICS, LLCet al,
Plaintiffs,
V. : CASE NO.: 1:09-CV-186 (WLS)
GEORGIA FARM SERVICES, LLCet al, '

Defendants.

ORDER

The Court orally ruled on the parties’ pending mas: Defendant’s Oral Motion

to Strike Expert Testimony and the parties’ OraltMas for Judgments as a Matter |of
Law. The Court, as stated, enters this writteneoriob fully state the reasons and bajsis
of its oral rulings. For the following reasons,f®edant’s Oral Motion for Judgment as
a Matter of Law as to Plaintiffs’ PVPA, trademankfiingement, and false designati¢n
claims areDENIED, Plaintiffs’ Oral Motion for Judgment as a Mattef loaw as to
Defendant’s liability under the PVPA IBENIED, and Plaintiffs’ Oral Motion for
Judgment as a Matter of Law as to Defendant’s ¢orgiinterference counterclaim |is
GRANTED. The oralrulings, by reference, are made a pathisfwritten order.

BACKGROUND

On July 23, 2009, Plaintiffs AGSouth Genetics, LEBGSouth”) and University
of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc. ("UGARF”) dila Complaint against Defendapt
Georgia Farm Services, LLC (“GFS”) and others ire tAthens Division of this Cour{,
alleging violations of the Plant Variety Protectidwt (“PVPA") and the Lanham Act.

(Doc. 1) District Court Judge Clay D. Land grashta Motion to Change Venue (n
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December 9, 2009, and transferred the matter te dinision. (Doc. 24.) Following
discovery and an unsuccessful Motion for Summargghaent by Plaintiffs, trial in thi$
matter began on October 11, 2013. (Docs. 35, 168,)

Among the witnesses tendered by Plaintiffs was &ldrDavis, further tenderec

and permitted to testify, as an expert witness.oq.DL72.) Mr. Davis testified on thle

matter of damages under the PVPA. He testified tteahad used a formula he authoied

to determine a reasonable royalty, purporting te tise factors set out iGeorgia-

Pacific Corp. v. U.S. Plywood Corp243 F. Supp. 500 (S.D.N.Y. 1965). Following tlp

testimony, Defendant made an oral motion to stttke expert testimony, claiming tht

it did not comport with the requirements of FedeRale of Evidence 702.

Defendant moved for a judgment as a matter of ¢cawPlaintiffs’ PVPA claim

is

claiming that no evidence had been introduced tggest that the protected seeds had

been propagated, or that Defendant had the reguksibwledge for damages under the

PVPA. Also, Defendant claimed that the evidences wesufficient to prove willfulnessg

under the PVPA by clear and convincing evidenceefeDdant argued that the expent

testimony should be stricken and, without the expe¢estimony, there was no evidenge

in the record demonstrating damages.

Defendant moved for judgment as a matter of lawRdaintiffs’ Lanham Act

claims contending there was no evidence that thedsewere part of interstafe

commerce or to suggest likelihood of confusion, tharking requirement was not met,

and no evidence of Lanham Act damages had beemdnted. Plaintiffs moved foy
judgment as a matter of law as to PVPA infringemieadility, claiming that counsel fof

Defendant’s opening statement and Mr. Wingate'stitesny at trial constituted

admissions of PVPA infringement as to at least ®2@s of AGS 2000. Also, Plaintifis




argued that they were entitled to judgment as atenaif law on Defendant’s tortiouls
interference claim because Plaintiffs’ actions wereileged.

DISCUSSION

. Motion to Strike Expert Testimony

A. Standard of Review

The Supreme Court made “abundantly clear” Daubert v. Merrell Dow
Pharmaceuticals, In¢509 U.S. 579, 589 n.7, 597 (1993), that FederdeRf Evidencg
702 (“Rule 702") compels a District Court to penorthe critical gatekeeping functign
concerning the admissibility of expert scientifieidence. Rule 702 requires the same
gatekeeping function for the admissibility of teetal expert evidenceKuhmo Tire Co
v. Carmichael 526 U.S. 137, 147 (1999)nited States v. Fraziei387 F.3d 1244, 1260
(11th Cir. 2004).

The District Court’s gatekeeping function “ inteartly require[s] the trial court tp
conduct an exacting analysis’ of tii@undationsof expert opinions to ensure they meet
the standards for admissibility under Rule 70ZFtazier, 387 F.3d at 1260 (quotinlg
McCorvey v. Baxter Healthcare Cor298 F.3d 1253, 1257 (11th Cir. 2002)) (emph4@sis

and alteration in original). Courts in the Elevier@ircuit “engage in a rigorous thre

192
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part inquiry” in determining the admissibility okgert testimony under Rule 702d.
Trial courts must consider whether:

(1) the expert is qualified to testify competentggarding the matters he
intends to address; (2) the methodology by which #xpert reaches his
conclusions is sufficiently reliable as determinky the sort of inquiry
mandated inDaubert and (3) the testimony assists the trier of fact,
through the application of scientific, technical, specialized expertise, to
understand that evidence or to determine a fatdsne.

Id. (quotingCity of Tuscaloosa v. Harcros. Chems., In158 F.3d 548, 562 (11th Cif.
1998).




Regardless of the overlap among the three requards of qualification
reliability, and helpfulness, “they remain distinmincepts and the courts must take care
not to conflate them.”ld. Furthermore, “[tlhe burden of establishing quaétion,
reliability, and helpfulness rests on the proponesftthe expert opinion.” Id.

Ultimately, the reliability inquiry must be tied the particular facts of the casKuhmo

Tire Co, 526 U.S. at 150 (internal citations omitted). uadly important to the gate
keeping function is a determination of whether thmposed testimony is relevarit.

Daubert 509 U.S. at 591. Relevant testimony is thatiteshy that “logically advance

vJ

a material aspect” of a party’s casAllison v. McGhan Medical Corp184 F.3d 1300
1312 (11th Cir. 1999).

A witness may be qualified as an expert by reasioknowledge, skill, experience

training, or education. #b. R.EviD. 702. Furthermore, “[d]isputes as to the strengjth
[a withess’s] credentials, faults in his use offeliéntial etiology as a methodology, pr
lack of textual authority for his opinion, go todalweight, not the admissibility, of h{s
testimony.” McCurdy v. Ford Motor Cq.No. 1:04-CV-155, 2006 WL 2793167, at {4
(M.D. Ga. Sept. 26, 2006) (quotimngicCullock v. H.B. Fuller Co.61F.3d 1038, 1044 (2¢d
Cir. 1995)). “Vigorous cross-examination, presdrda of contrary evidence, and
contrary instruction on the burden of proof are theditional and appropriate means|of
attacking [debatable] but admissible evidencklaiz v. Virani 253 F.3d 641, 666 (11th
Cir. 2001). The Court’s role in addressingDmubert motion “is not intended t¢
supplant the adversary system or the role of tlg.JuAllison, 184 F.3d at 1311.

B. Analysis

Defendant claims that Mr. Davis's methodology hest been accepted in the

scientific community, will not assist the trier fact, and is not the product of reliable




principles and methods. Defendant argues thatDwvis did not link damages to th
infringing acts, misinterpreted the law, and therefproduced an unreliable result.
Mr. Davis is a certified public accountant, licexsby the Arkansas, Kansas, a

Missouri State Boards of Accountancy. (Doc. 93t128.) He graduated from th

University of Central Arkansas with a Bachelor'sdbdee in Business Administratiof,

with an emphasis in accounting in 1987Td.(at 29.) He has worked in accounting sir

that time, specializing in, among other things, eglture. (d.) He has previousl

e
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testified in matters involving the PVPA.Id( at 31.) Based on this background agnd

experience, the Court finds that Mr. Davis is qfiadi to testify as an expert as
damages under the PVP&eeFED. R.EviD. 702.

Mr. Davis claims that he based his reasonable Itpyalculation on the fifteer
factors deemed relevant l3eorgia-Pacific Corp. v. U.S. Plywood Cor@243 F. Supp
500 (S.D.N.Y. 1965), referred to as tleeorgia-Pacificfactors. Mr. Davis started h
analysis based on a retail value of $18.00 per &®ffGS 2000, and asserts that t
retail value is based on the assumption that thréigmaare willing to settle disputes th

arise in relation to that price. When there issueh meeting of the minds, Mr. Davis

fO

reasoning continues, the reasonable royalty mustpensate Plaintiffs for the damages

suffered in connection with the illegal sale, offer sale, exchange, or conditioning
AGS 2000. Mr. Davis concludes that, “at minimumaiRtiffs damages, or minimur

royalty is equal to the additional gross value @gainllegally as compared to genel

public or lesser value seed,” which is $815.40 pag. (Doc. 93-1 at 15-16.) Mr. Days

asserts that this number does not take into comattbmm the nature of seed whiq

permits repeated and exponential infringementd. gt 16.)
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Mr. Davis arrived at the reasonable royalty of 380 by determining the value
of a bag of wheat seed other than AGS 2000 andrélee of a bag of AGS 2000, bas¢d
on the expected yields of those seeds in the ralkegaographical region. The expected
yield of a bag of wheat other than AGS 2000 wasedained by Mr. Davis to be, op
average, 59.5 bushels per acre, at one acre per blag alleged expected yield of a bpg
of AGS 2000 wheat was determined to be an averdg4.8 bushels, which is an
additional 45.3 bushels per acre than that produnethe average wheat seed thaf is
not AGS 2000.

Defendant argues that this analysis should beuebed from consideration by the
jury because (1) Mr. Davis’theory has never beeceated by any circuit court, (2) the
theory has never been published, (3) Mr. Davis dewsied the opportunity to conductla
seminar on his theory, and (4) the theory is contreo controlling law, namely
Georgia-Pacificbecause the reasonable royalty rate must be basea hypothetica
negotiation between ailling licensor and licensee. The Court notes that tlgesends
are somewhat different from the grounds for exadasDefendant raised in its earligr
Motion to Exclude Expert Testimony. (Doc. 77 a7 §-

First, whether Mr. Davis’ theory has been accepbgdanother court, publishedl,
or presented goes to whether the theory would Hpflleto the jury. FED. R. EvID.
702(a);Daubert 509 U.S. at 593. When actual damages cannotrbeep, the propef
measure of damages is a reasonable royalty. ‘®Akonable royalty is often determingd
on the basis of a hypothetical negotiation, ocaugribetween the parties at the time ghe
infringement began.”Uniloc USA, Inc. v. Microsoft Corp632 F.3d 1292, 1312 (Fed.
Cir. 2011) (citingWang Labs, Inc. v. Toshiba Cor®93 F.2d 858, 869 (Fed. Cir. 1993)).

At minimum, to be admissible und®aubert an expert’s reasonable royalty calculatijon




under the PVPA must “tie a reasonable royalty tasthe facts of the case at issuéd.

at 1315;see Daubert509 U.S. at 591. Th&eorgia-Pacificfactors have been acceptgd

as ‘“valid and important factors in the determinatiof a reasonable royalty ratq.

Uniloc, 632 F.3d at 1317-18.

Mr. Davis’ theory uses th&eorgia-Pacificfactors. Although he may have pput

heavier weight on some factors in relation to theghit he assigned other factors, sy

does not necessarily render his opinion inadmissil#ls this Court has previously held,

“the objections Defendant[] raise[s] to Davis’ tesbny on the issue of damages are
essence matters for cross-examination and do nesgmt a basis to exclude t
testimony.” (Doc. 110 at 4.) The Court concludes, it has previously, Mr. Davis
testimony is admissible undddaubert because it relies primarily on th@eorgia-

Pacific factors, which has been deemed an acceptable metbgy by the Federg

Circuit. (Id. at 5.) Davis’ application of those factors is rsat extreme and so withoyit

logic as to render his opinion violative Daubertand Rule 702. However, it remaips

subject to attack by cross-examination.

The Court notes that the analysis is not partidyleomplicated, and therefore
not likely to confuse the jury. The expert testimyowill help, from Plaintiffs’ view, to
explain “matters that are beyond the understanaihthe average lay person,” as t
average person is not likely to be aware of theessevaluated in Mr. Davis’s repo
United States v. Henderspd09 F.3d 1293, 1304 (11th Cir. 2005). The testiys
probative value is not “substantially outweighed itsypotential to confuse or misleg
the jury.” United States v. Frazie387 F.3d 1244, 1263 (11th Cir. 2004). The jus)
fully capable of understanding the theory and weighand including it with all the

other evidence, and Defendant has the opportunisubject it to a thorough and siftin
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cross-examination. The witness’s testimony cowddist the jury in understanding the

different Georgia-Pacific factors, how they relate and interplay in determ@ a
reasonable royalty. Accordingly, Defendant’s Qvidtion to Strike Expert Testimony i
DENIED.
II. Judgment as a Matter of Law
A. Standard of Review
Judgment as a matter of law may be entered agairpsrty “when a party ha

been fully heard on an issue and there is no lggalifficient evidentiary basis for

[92)

reasonable jury to find for that party on that issuReeves v. Sanderson Plumbipg

Prods., Inc, 530 U.S. 113, 149 (2000) (internal citation orad}. The standard fq
granting a motion for judgment as a matter of laak@es that for summary judgmer

See id.at 151. Thus, a motion for judgment as a mattielaw may be granted bass

-

t.

d

upon the evidence in the record, which shows thate is “no genuine issue as to any

material fact and that the moving party is entitled[judgment as a matter of law]
Celotex Corp. v. Catrettd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). An issue is “ ‘genuihéhe record
taken as a whole could lead a rational trier ot fecfind for the nonmoving party,
Allen v. Tyson Foodsl21 F.3d 642, 646 (11th Cir. 1997) (citations thed). A fact is
“‘material” if it hinges on the substantive law asue and it might affect the outcome
the nonmoving party’s claimAnderson v. Liberty Lobhy77 U.S. 242, 248 (19863ge
also Allen 121 F.3d at 646. Judgment as a matter of lawppropriate when th
‘nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficientoslng on an essential element
[its] case with respect to which [it] has the bundef proof.” See Celetox477 U.S. at

323.
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To avoid judgment as a matter of law, the nonmomagty must “put forth mor¢

than a mere scintilla of evidence suggesting tleatsonable minds could reach differi
verdicts.” Abel v. Dubberly 210 F.3d 1334, 1337 (11th Cir. 2000). “[I]f remsble and
fair-minded persons in the exercise of impartiabgment might reach differen
conclusions,” judgment as a matter of law will bended. Id. (internal citation omitted)
On a motion for judgment as a matter of law, thei@anust view all the evidence ar
all factual inferences drawn therefrom in the ligihbst favorable to the nonmovirn
party and determine whether that evidence couldaorably sustain a jury verdicGee
Celotex 477 U.S. at 322-23.

B. Analysis

i. Plaintiffs’claim under 7 U.S.C. § 2541

Plaintiffs claim they have raised a jury questios t&a whether Defendant hg

violated 7 U.S.C. § 2541(a)(1), (a)(6), (a)(8), a)(10), whether Defendant did s

willfully thus entitling Plaintiffs to enhanced dages, and PVPA damages. Defend

14
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claims it is entitled to judgment as a matter off laecause (1) no evidence has bg¢en

introduced to demonstrate it had the notice reqlubyg 7 U.S.C. § 2567, (2) no eviden
has been introduced to suggest any of the seeds prapagated, (3) no evidence h
been introduced to demonstrate the recklessneasrestfor a showing of willfulnesg
and, (4) without benefit of the expert opinion, tluey has no evidence upon which
may base a damages finding with the requisite ocetya Because the Court has rul
that the expert opinion is admissible, only thetfithree grounds of contention will &

considered.

1The United States Court of Appeals for the Fed@ieduit has exclusive jurisdiction over appealgen
the PVPA, and its precedent therefore controlsafbsubstantive purposes. 7 U.S.C. § 24Bdlta & Pine
Land Co. v. Sinkers Corpl77 F.3d 1343, 1350 (Fed. Cir. 1999).
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To get its claims under 7 U.S.C. § 2541 to theyjan the issue of infringemen
Plaintiffs must demonstrate that Defendant

without authority ...in the United States, or in corarce which can be
regulated by Congress or affecting such commercer go expiration of

the right to plant variety protection but after @t the issue of the
certificate or the distribution of a protected ptlarariety with the notice
under [7 U.S.C. § 2567] (1) s[old] or market[ed] theotected variety, or
offer[ed] it or expose[ed] it for sale, deliver[ed]ship[ped] it, consign[ed]
it, exchange[d] it, or solicitfed] an offer to buit, or [otherwise

transferred] title or possession of it; (6) dispeftd the variety to another,
in a form which can be propagated without notice@abeing a protected
variety under which it was received; (8) stock[e¢ld¢ variety for [either of
these purposes]; or (10) instigate[d] or activelduce[d] performance of
any of the foregoing acts.”

7 U.S.C. 2541(a)(1), (a)(6), (a)(8) & (a)(10).

At trial, Plaintiffs introduced evidence that wadulsupport a finding thalt

Defendant’s employees loaded bags of AGS 2000 whmeatrked as such, into truch
owned by Defendant, which were parked on land owhgdefendant. The evideng
also supports a finding that Defendant sold, traorsgd, dispensed, and stocked A
2000. William Douglas Wingate, representative Defendant, admitted that h
company transported bags of AGS 2000 to TerrelnRé&ompany on behalf of Edwal
Parker. Although Defendant claims that such aciorere at the direction of a thin
party, such a fact does not serve as a defens¥Réhfringement.

The Court notes that Plaintiffs are not entitledudgment as a matter of law
to PVPA liability. “When a party testifying at &l or during a deposition admits a f3

which is adverse to his claim or defense, it iseyatly preferable to treat that testimo

as solely an evidentiary admissionKeller v. United States8 F.3d 1194, 1199 n.8 (71h

Cir. 1995) (citation omitted). Statements madeidgrthe course of a trial are n

judicial admissions because they are not contaimegleadings, a stipulation, or

10
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response to a request for admissi@ee Carl E. Woodward, LLC v. Acceptance Ind
Co, No. 1:09-cv-781-LR-RHW, 2011 WL 98404, at *4 (SMiss. Jan. 12, 2011).

For an infringer to be held liable for damages thfringing bags must have beg

labeled as a protected variety, or the infringer sininave had “actual notice ¢r

knowledge that propagation is prohibited or tha¢ tfariety is a protected variety.”
U.S.C. §8 2567. Plaintiffs have introduced eviderthat the bags were marked

protected and that Mr. Wingate at least intimatedih investigator that the AGS 20(

Defendant was selling was certified. This evidemcsufficient for a jury to infer thajt

Defendant, at the relevant time, had actual knogdethat the variety was protected.

Neither actual propagation nor intent to propagatequired for violation of th¢
PVPA. See generally7 U.S.C. 8 2541. The first line of an opinion thaterpreted thg
version of the PVPA before the 1994 amendmentsatiat the PVPA “protects owne
of novel seed varieties against unauthorized safie¢seir seed for replanting purpose
Asgrow Seed Co. v. Winterbo&l3 U.S. 179, 181 (1995). That case, howevemlired
a discussion of an exception, removed in the 19%feradments, which permitte
farmer-to-farmer transactions involving saved seefisealsoDelta & Pine Land Co. v

Sinkers Corp. 177 F.3d 1343, 1347 (Fed. Cir. 1999 GSouth Genetics, LLC

Cunningham No. CA 09-745-C, 2011 WL 1833016, at *3 (S.D. AMay 13, 2011). The

Court will not read an additional requirement irthe plain language of 7 U.S.C. 8§ 25
based on dicta from a case based on a previousoveo$that statute.

The Court also finds that sufficient evidence heen introduced to support
jury finding as to willfulness. A finding of wiliflness is necessary to enhance statu
damages under the PVPASee In re Seagate Technology, L1497 F.3d 1360, 137

(Fed. Cir. 2007). To make such a showing, Plaismtmhust demonstrate by clear a
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convincing evidence that Defendant “acted despit@hjectively high likelihood that it

actions constitute infringement of a valid [PVPAtikcate].” 1d. at 1371. In addition
this objective risk must have been “known or so iobs that it should have bee
known” by Defendant.ld. The Court finds that Plaintiffs have introducedffient
evidence to raise a jury question as to recklessnedAs mentioned above, th

investigator recorded Mr. Wingate’s intimation théte AGS 2000 wheat seq

n

e

d

Defendant was selling was certified. He furthepleined that the AGSouth wheat seed

was some of the best on the market. Also, testiynwas introduced that informationgl
booklets outlining the protected nature of AGS 20@6re found in Mr. Wingate’s
possession on Defendant’s premises. These ciramess sufficiently evidence
Defendant’s knowledge that a license was necesfarthe lawful dispensation of AGB

2000, and doing so without such a license was atednby a high likelihood of

infringing on the licensor’s rights to create a gtien of fact for the jury on the questid

of willfulness.

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that Ri&fsnhave introduced sufficienit

n

evidence to raise a jury question as to infringemenlifulness, and damages under the

PVPA, but the evidence is not such as to entitlmRlffs to judgment as a matter of lgw

as to PVPA liability. To do so, the Court would bequired to make impermissib
credibility determinations. Accordingly, Defend&Oral Motion for Judgment as
Matter of Law as to Plaintiffs’ PVPA claim and Piaiffs’ Oral Motion for Judgment as
Matter of Law as to Defendant’s PVPA liability aDeENIED.

ii.  Plaintiff AGSouth’s claim under 15 U.S.C. § 1114

Plaintiff AGSouth claims it has produced sufficiervidence to raise a juf

guestion as to whether Defendant has violated the@egmark infringement provision ¢f
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the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114. Defendalaims that there is no evidence to supplort

a finding that its use of the mark caused a liketid of confusion, and no eviden

supports a finding that the marking requirement®f).S.C. § 1111 was met. 15 U.S.d.

1114 provides in pertinent part:
(1) Any person who shall, without the consent of thgistrant—
(a) use in commerce any reproduction, counterfeit,ycap colorable
imitation of a registered mark in connection withetsale, offering for
sale, distribution, or advertising of any goods sdrvices on or in
connection with which such use is likely to causaftsion, or to cause
mistake, or to deceive ...shall be liable in a cadtion by the registrant.
15 U.S.C. § 1114.
To succeed on this claim, Plaintiff AGSouth musoye that (1) it had trademar

rights in the mark or name at issue, and (2) De&artchdopted a mark or name that w

the same, or confusingly similar to its mark, subklt consumers were likely to confu

the two. Suntree Technologies, Inc. v. Ecosence Intl, 603 F.3d 1338, 1346 (11th

Cir. 2012) (citingTana v. Dantannajs611 F.3d 767, 772-73 (11th Cir. 2010)). Typiga

“the outcome turns on the likelihood of confusiom@ng prospective customery.

Communications Satellite Corp. v. Comcet, |M29 F.2d 1245, 1252 (4th Cir. 197Q).

Factors relevant to this determination are distieriess of the mark, similarity of th

two marks, similarity of the goods or services thlaé marks purport to identify, thle

defendant’s intent in adopting the same or simifeark, and actual confusiorBeeSara
Lee Corp. v. Kayser-Roth Cor®B1 F.3d 455, 463 (4th Cir. 1996). Where the msrare
not competitors, “the issue of infringement hingaesthe likelihood of confusion abod
the source or sponsorship of the defendant’s gaaud services.” Communications

Satellite 429 F.2d at 1252. (citations omitted).
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Plaintiff AGSouth complains that wheat seed walsl S0 bags bearing the nanje

AGS 2000, but the seed contained therein did nog¢tnilee quality standards of licens

and controlled AGS 2000. In support of this cortten, Plaintiff has introduced

evidence that testing of bags of seeds marked AG&02obtained by an investigat

bd

DI

revealed that not all seeds in the bags so marked wGS 2000. Where products gre

sold under a particular mark, but the products ao¢ consistent with the quality

demanded by the entity with the rights to the mdiddility may lie for Lanham Act

trademark infringementSeeg e.g, Mary Kay Inc. v. Ayres827 F. Supp. 2d 584, 590

(D.S.C. 2011). Thus, Plaintiff argues, infringent &as been demonstrated.

The Court finds that the evidence, in a light mfastorable to Plaintiff AGSouth

supports a jury finding that a consumer could beafaesed and attribute the lowegr

guality seeds contained in the bags of wheat sedllsy Defendant marked AGS 200

to Plaintiff. “The role of a trademark is its asance of quality, and its value depends

the consistent quality of the product that bears mhark.” Nitro Leisure Prods., LLC v}

Acushnet Cq.341 F.3d 1356, 1369-70 (Fed. Cir. 2003). PldinAGSouth held the

rights to AGS 2000, and Mr. Clements testified thatstomers who bought an

conducted testing on those seeds would find thatlthgs did not in fact contain onfly

AGS 2000 seeds. This testimony is corroboratethbgratory testing of the contents
the bags labeled AGS 2000 in Defendant’s possessEailing bags of seed marked A(
2000 containing a mixture consisting of seeds tha not AGS 2000 could certain
cause consumer confusion, and cause those consumatsribute the lower quality t
Plaintiff AGSouth. Although no actual confusion shdeen demonstratedictual

confusion is only one factor in the determinatidritee likelihood of confusion.

14
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Furthermore, the Court finds that the marking riegonent has been met.
U.S.C. § 1111 requires that notice be given thatrttegk was registered with the Unitg

States Patent and Trademark Office by, among otheans, “displaying with the mar

d

k

...the letter R enclosed within a circle.” Defendatims that this requirement was nlot

met because “the letter R enclosed within a ciral@s not directly adjacent to the majrk

“‘AGS.” The Court rejects Defendant’s assertion tthlae placement of the “®” wal
improper and ineffective under 15 U.S.C. § 111lheTpurpose of that provision is
ensure any infringer had notice that the mark wasgistered trademark before holdi
such person liable for infringemenSee Admiral Corp. v. Sewing Mach. Sales Co
156 F. Supp. 796, 798 (S.D.N.Y. 1957). The “®” wdaced in such a manner on the f
containing AGS 2000 that any observer would be @daon sufficient notice of th
protected status of the mark. Additionally, foretmeasons stated above, sufficig
evidence supports a finding that Defendant had aldtnowledge of Plaintiff AGSouth’
trademark.

Accordingly, Defendant’s Oral Motion for Judgmeas$ a Matter of Law as t
Plaintiff AGSouth’s Trademark Infringement ClaimDENIED.

iii.  Plaintiff AGSouth’s claim under 15 U.S.C. § 1125

Plaintiff AGSouth claims that it has introduced fstiént evidence to raise a jur
guestion as to whether Defendant is liable for datkesignation of origin under th

Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125That provision provides, in pertinent part:

2 Trademark infringement under 15 U.S.C. § 1114 pe&smecovery for infringement of aegistered
trademark. False designation of origin under 15.0. § 1125 permits recovery for improper use
registeredand unregisteredrademarks.See 1-800 Contacts, Inc. v. Lens.com, Ii22 F.3d 1229, 123
(10th Cir. 2013).
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(a) Civil Action

(1) Any person who, on or in connection with arpds or services, or any

container for goods, uses in commerce any wordntarame, symbol, or

device, or any combination thereof, or any falseigeation of fact which—

(A) is likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistadr to deceive as to

the affiliation, connection, or association of sugérson with another
person, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or apakofhis or her goods,
services, or commercial activities by another parso

15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) (D (A).

Plaintiffs claim that Defendant is liable for falslesignation of origin becauge
some of the bags containing AGS 2000 were labele& 1 Diversified Farm Service.
In essence, Plaintiffs are claiming that Defendanangfully misrepresented Plaintiffg
goods as goods originating from someone other tREntiffs. This fits closest to g
theory of false designation of origin referred ®“aeverse palming off."See Dastar v
Twentieth Century Fox Film Corp539 U.S. 23, 28 n.1(2003). To prove such antldi
Plaintiffs must prove that (1) the product at issugginated with Plaintiffs, (2) origin of
the product was falsely designated by the Defend@)tthe false designation of orign
was likely to cause consumer confusion, and (4)nRiléss were harmed by Defendanfs
false designation of originSyngenta Seeds, Inc. v. Delta Cotton Co-op,, 1457 F.3d
1269, 1277 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (citinlgpton v. Nature Cq.71 F.3d 464, 473 (2d Cif.
1995)).

Plaintiff AGSouth does not allege that the orign the product was falsely

designated by Defendant. Instead, Plaintiff claitinat the work was falsely designat
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by E & | Diversified Farm Service. If the bagssded had been labeled “Georgia Farm

Services AGS 2000,” Plaintiff would have clearlysasted a valid false designation

|of

origin claim. See Syngenta Seedb7 F.3d at 1278. As the evidence does not supjpo
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this finding, the question for the Court is essallyiwhether Defendant’s act of sellirjg
the bags labeled E &I Diversified Farm Serviceudficient to create a jury question ¢n
Plaintiff's false designation of origin claim. Th&urt finds that the plain language of 7
U.S.C. 8 1125(a)(1)(A) supports an affirmative answe this question. SeelLorillard
Tobacco Co. v. Ahmad’s Pizza, In866 F. Supp. 2d 872, 878 (N.D. Ohio 2012).
Additionally, the Court notes that sufficient eeimce supports a finding ¢f
likelihood of confusion and that the marking recqanrent has been met for the reas¢ns
stated above. Accordingly, Defendant’s Oral Motfon Judgment as a Matter of Law as
to Plaintiffs’ false designations claim BBENIED.
iv. Defendant’s tortious interference claim
Defendant argues that it has made a claim foridag interference with business
relations by providing at least some evidence tRlaintiffs refused to settle the case pn
fair and reasonable terms and refused to grantridfat licenses for other varieties |of
seeds in an effort to extract a high settlemenmfrbefendant in the instant mattqr.
Plaintiffs claim they are entitled to judgment asmatter of law as to Defendants
tortious interference counterclaim.
To make out a claim for tortious interference un@eorgia law, counterclaimart
GFS must introduce sufficient evidence to raisarg guestion that (1) AGSouth and/pr
UGARF acted improperly and without privilege, (20nposely and with malice with thje
intent to injure, (3) induced a third party or past not to enter into or continuefa
business relationship with GFS, (4) for which GR#fered some financial injury].
Walker v. Gowen Stores LL.B22 Ga. App. 376, 376 (2013) (citingtegrated Micro
Sys. Mfg. v. Rule Indus264 Ga. 295 (1994)). “The malice element of ttaeise of

action is broadly construed to encompass any ulhauted interference or anly
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interference without legal justification or excuse. Id. (citations omitted). “It ig

generally held that no liability for [intentionahterference with business relation

exists where the breach is caused by the exerdisan mbsolute right—that is, an alt

which a [person] has a definite legal right to dahwut any qualification.” Russell
Corp. v. BancBoston Financial Ga209 Ga. App. 660, 663 (1993) (citirBchaeffer v
King, 223 Ga. 468 (1967)).

Article 1, Section 8, Clause 8 of the United Stat€onstitution empower
Congress “[t]jo promote the Progress of Science aseful Arts, by securing for limite
Times to Authors and Inventors the exclusive Righttheir respective Writings an
Discoveries.” The foundation of intellectual praoperights is the right to exclud
others. See Patlex Corp. v. Mossinghoff58 F.2d 594, 599 (Fed. Cir. 1985).
trademark owner has the absolute right to preveheis from affixing the mark witl
neither license nor quality control by the tradeimawner.” Nitro Leisure Prods., LLQ
v. Acushnet C9.341 F.3d 1356, 1369-70 (Fed. Cir. 2003). As themdemark holder
AGSouth had the absolute right to refuse to grafRSGntellectual property license
Whether AGSouth harbored ill motives in making tdetermination is irrelevant.

The Court notes that Defendant asserted that mas complaining that th

licenses were not issued to it, but rather thatrRifis refused to settle the case. T

Court disagrees with this characterization of thetda Defendant complains that fits

business relationships were harmed because it wesble to sell popular peaniit

varieties since Plaintiffs refused to grant licems® Defendant for those varietie
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Plaintiffs’ reason for doing so may have been redato their refusal to settle the cage.

But the crux of the harm to Defendant arises frolirRiffs’ refusal to grant it licenseg.

Refusal to settle alone did not interfere with Defant’s business relationships. Ever
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the harm emanated from Plaintiffs’ refusal to setduch a decision was Plaintiffs
make, without qualification or reason.

Furthermore, Defendant introduced no particulatizvidence of the busines

relationships that were harmed by Plaintiffs’ aotso Without such evidence, Plaintiffs

are entitled to judgment as a matter of |a8ee Am. S. Ins. Group, Inc. v. Goldst&ial
Ga. App. 1, 12 (2008). To the extent the exerafa right could ever possibly be th
basis of an action for tortious interference, Defant has failed to present such fad
Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ Oral Motion for Judgmenta Matter of Law iSRANTED.

CONCLUSION

Defendant’s Oral Motion for Judgment as a MatteLaw as to Plaintiffs’ PVPA
trademark infringement, and false designation agiarclaims areDENIED , Plaintiffs’
Oral Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law as tefdhdant’s PVPA liability is
DENIED, and Plaintiffs’ Oral Motion for Judgment as a Mattof Law as tg
Defendant’s tortious interference counterclainGRANTED.

SO ORDERED, this__ 24" day of October, 2013\lunc pro tuncOctober 18
2013.

/s/ W. Louis Sands

THE HONORABLE W. LOUIS SANDS,
UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
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